IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GREGORY BOONE

APPELLANT

VS

NO.: 2006-KA-00081-SCT

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT HINDS COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT GREGORY BOONE

John R. McNeal, Jr., Esquire/MSB Post Office Box 690
Jackson, MS 39205
Telephone No.: (601) 969-7794
Facsimile No.: (601) 969-0040

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

- 1. The Court erred as a matter of law in denying the Defendant's Motion for Continuance based on the substitution of counsel less than two (2) weeks prior to the trial.
 - 2. The Court erred in failing to grant a Motion for Directed Verdict.
- 3. The Court erred in failing to grant Defendant's Directed Verdict after renewal at the close of the State's case.
- 4. The Court erred in refusing or denying Defendant's Motion for J.N.O.V or in the alternative a new trial.
- 5. The verdict of the jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence and obvious jury bias and prejudice.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from the Hinds County Circuit Court of the sentence of fifteen (15) years with ten (10) years suspended and five (5) years to serve and three (3) years probation, whereupon the Appellant was sentenced in reference to a guilty verdict of the charge of gratification of lust. Gregory Boone was indicted by the Grand Jury of Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District, on October 12, 2004, in Cause No. 04-943CRG. Subsequent to said indictment, Gregory Boone waived arraignment and entered a plea of not guilty. A trial was had on November 7-8, 2005 and the Jury found the Appellant guilty in the Jury verdict on November 8, 2005. Subsequent to the jury verdict post trial motions were filed seeking J.N.O.V., said motions having been denied by the Court. The Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal, Designation of Record and Certificate of Compliance with the Court.

B. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The trial of this matter began on November 7, 2005. Appellant Boone was arrested on March 31, 2005 upon service of the aforementioned indictment. He was arraigned on April 12, 2005 and at said time was represented by Honorable Mike Knapp, a member of the Hinds County Public Defender's Office. The Appellant subsequently was bonded out and returned home awaiting further action on his case. Mr. Boone had no contact with his Court appointed Attorney until October 24, 2005, at which time he

met with Public Defender, Adam Powers, 15 days before the matter was to go to trial. At said time the Appellant requested Mr. Powers procure a continuance because two 92) weeks would not be sufficient to prepare for trial in that the Appellant, Mr. Boone had not had the opportunity or had not been presented any discovery in the matter for his review or asked to participate in his own defense of the charge. At said time Mr. Boone was advised by the Office of the Public Defender that Judge Green would not grant a continuance and that it would probably be in Appellant's best interest to take a plea. Subsequent to that time the Appellant's family borrowed money and retained Thomas Powell, Esquire on October 28, 2005. Mr. Powell sought a continuance to prepare for said trial but said motion was denied by the Judge and was forced to proceed on to trial without the benefit of having time to prepare an adequate defense. That the Appellant was forced to go to trial. and at the trial the Trial Judge denied the Defendant's Motion for Directed Verdict and for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict. That the complaining witness, Mya Norwood testified that she was awakened "Because I felt someone touching me". [T. Pg. 61, L. 21-22]. Ms. Norwood further testified that she slipped out of bed and went and told her mom, at which time her Mom went into the room and made a thorough search to determine, who, if anyone, had been in Ms. Norwood's room. [T. Pg. 62, L. 13-29; T. Pg. 63, L. 1-9] Ms. Norwood was asked what she did after her mother had searched her room and she stated, "I went in my room and closed the door and turned on the light and woke up my sister". [T. Pg. 63, L. 10-13]. Ms. Norwood was

further asked that she turned on the light and woke up her sister, did she say anything to her? She related to her sister that someone was touching her. [T. Pg. 63, L. 14-27]. On cross-examination, Ms. Norwood was asked, did you actually see Cameo (which is her nickname for Mr. Boone) in your bed?. The answer was, No, Sir, my sister saw him. [T. Pg. 66, L. 5-7]. Ms. Norwood, further on cross-examination, was asked, was your sister asleep or not?. Her answer, "she was asleep, but she told me, she had woke up". [T. Pg. 67, L. 3-4]. On further cross-examination, Ms. Norwood was asked, "Could you tell me again what happened when you woke your mother and told her someone was touching you?" Answer, "I woke my Mom up when she was on the couch and I told her somebody was touching me. And, she went in the room, and she was looking under the bed and through stuff. And, she made sure the window wasn't open and stuff and nobody was there." Question, Okay, and where was Jamilla during this time? Answer, "My sister, she was still in the room sleep". Question, so she was still sleep through all this time". "Yes, ma". Question, So it's not possible for her to have seen anybody"? "Yes, Because she told me that she had woke up and then she had went back to sleep. But she had woke up and saw him walking out the room, and then she went back to sleep". [T. Pg. 67, L. 25-29; T. Pg. 67, L. 1-16].

The Prosecution next called Jamilla Norwood to testify. Ms. Norwood was asked on direct examination what she and her sister were doing on the night this alleged touching took place. She responded, "watching tv". Question, "What were ya'll

watching, do you remember? Answer, "Yes". Question, "What was that?" Answer, "it was a scary movie. I think were was watching Freddy". [T. Pg. 71, L. 22-29] Ms. Norwood was further asked what they did when her mom got home. "And when your Mom got home, did she come in your brother's room where you were?" Answer, "Yes." Question, "And what did she do when she came in there?" Answer, "She told us to go to bed and she turned off the light. And then she was about to turn off the T.V. and I asked her to keep it on". Question, "Why did you want her to keep the T.V. on?" Answer, "Because I was scared because we watched a scary movie." [T. Pg. 72, L. 5-15]. Ms. Norwood was asked, question, "At any point in time did you wake up? Any time during the night, did you wake up? Answer, "I turned over and opened my eyes". Question, "What did you see?" Answer, "Somebody walked across the – it was Cameo. He walked across the T.V. I could see because the light on the T.V. showed". "Question, "And how did you know it was Cameo?" Answer, "Because I could see him because his ears and his head shape". Question, "What stands out about his ears?" Answer, "They're pointed at the top." Question, "When you saw him in there, did it scare you to see him in there?" Answer, "No, ma'am." [T. Pg. 72, L. 19-29; T. Pg. 73, L. 1-4] Ms. Norwood was further asked, "Okay. So, why didn't it scare you to see him in your room?" 'Answer, "Because that's my mama's friend, and I didn't think he was going to do anything." [T. Pg. 72, L-20-23] Ms. Norwood was asked further, question, "At any point in the night did you know there was anybody else in the bed with you and your sister?" Answer, "I thought it

was my sister because she sleeps bad." Question, "What do you mean, sleeps bad?"

Answer, "She kicks and she turns." [T. Pg. 75, L. 1-7] On cross-examination Ms.

Norwood was asked how she knew it was Cameo in the room that night. Question,

"Okay. Let me stop you right there. How did you know it was Cameo?" Answer,

"Because I could tell because his ears and the way his head is shaped it was Cameo".

Question, Well, why couldn't you see his face then?" Answer, "I could tell because his head and his ears shaped, it was Cameo". Question. "So, you're just saying – the only thing you described on him was his ears. But I'm just saying why were you not able to see his face?" Answer, "Because the lights were off." [T. Pg. 76, L. 5-11; L. 15-18]. Ms.

Norwood was further asked on cross-examination. Question. "Did you see anyone touch your sister?" Answer. "No". Question. "And no one touch you?" Answer. "No". [t. Pg. 79, L. 13-16].

The next person to testify was Shelia Norwood, the mother of Mya Norwood. During direct examination Mrs. Norwood was asked, question, "What was she saying to you?" Answer, "She was saying somebody is in my room. Somebody is in my room, mama. I'm scared. Somebody is in my room. They're touching me. They're touching me. She was shaking like a leaf on a tree, and I'm saying, who is in your room? So, I got off the couch and went in the bedroom and turned on the light. The T.V. was still on. I turned the light on. I looked around in the room. I opened the closet door. I looked in the closed. I walked all the way around the bed. I even checked the bedroom

window, and the window was locked. So I was telling her, "it's nobody in here. What did you see?" And she kept saying, "somebody was in my room, I promise. It was somebody in my room." [T. Pg. 94, L 18-29; T. Pg. 95, L. 1-3]. Mrs. Norwood was then asked what she did immediately after she searched Mya's room. "I went in my room." Question, "Who was in your room?" Answer, "Cameo was in my room." Question, "Where was he in your room?" Answer. "He was in my room in my bed asleep wrapped up in a comforter." Question. "And you went to sleep again at that point?" Answer, "Yes, Pretty—well, yes." [T. Pg. 96, L. 5-13].

Subsequent to the close of Mrs. Norwood's testimony, the attorney for the Appellant made a motion for a Directed Verdict because the State had failed to prove its prima facia case of gratification of lust against Mr. Boone based upon the inaccuracies and testimony of all the State's witnesses said Motion was denied by the Trial Judge. [T. Pg. 113, L. 20-29; T. Pg. 114, L 1-17].

The Jury was brought back in and the Appellant proceeded with his case by calling Lonnie McGill who testified as to the whereabouts of the Appellant at the time the alleged crime took place. The substance of Mr. McGill's testimony was that the Appellant was with him and could not have been at the Norwood house the night the alleged crime took place. [T. Pg. 115, L. 16-29; T. Pg. 116, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 117, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 118, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 119, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 120, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 121, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 122, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 123, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 124, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 125, 1-29; T. Pg. 126, L. 1-

11].

Subsequent to Mr. McGill's testimony, the defense rested. Mr. Powell, the attorney for Appellant renewed his Motion for Directed Verdict which was denied by the Court. [T. Pg. 127, L 6-18]. Counsel and the Court reviewed Jury Instructions and the Jury was instructed by the Judge. [T. Pg. 127, L19-29; T. Pg. 128, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 129, L 1-29; T. Pg. 130, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 131, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 132, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 133, L 1-29; T. Pg. 134, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 135, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 136, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 137, L. 1-29; T. Pg. 138, L. 1-9]. After instructing the Jury both sides gave closing arguments and the Jury retired to consider its verdict.

C. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

1. The Court erred as a matter of law by failing to grant the Defendant/
Appellant's Request for Continuance. Black's Law Dictionary defines due process of law
as "the exercise of the powers of the government as the settled maxims of law permit and
sanction, and under such safeguards for the protection of individual rights as those
maxims prescribe for the class of cases to which the one in question belongs. A course of
legal proceedings according to those rules and principles which have been established in
our systems of jurisprudence for the enforcement and protection of private rights."

The essential elements are that the person be given notice, actual or constructive, and that he or she be given the opportunity to be heard. That the person be given the opportunity to defend himself/herself in an orderly proceeding according to the

rules and regulations of the law and the rules as they apply to all.

The Constitution guarantees that the laws shall not be unreasonable, arbitrary or capricious and that the means by which the opportunities are given be in substantial relation to the case.

Thus, a person is entitled to fundamental fairness in his/her case, which violates the 4th, 5th, 6th, 8th and 14th amendment of the Constitution of the United States of America and the Constitution of the State of Mississippi.

Thus, the Trial Judge erred as a matter of law by failing to grant the Appellant a continuance so that his newly acquired counsel could prepare an adequate defense for the Defendant.

- 2. The Trial Court erred again as a matter of law by failing to grant Defendant/
 Appellant's Motion for Directed Verdict at the close of the State's case in that the
 testimony of the State's witnesses amounted to nothing but mere speculation and
 conjecture.
- 3. The Trial Court erred again as a matter of law by failing to grant Defendant/
 Appellant's renewed Motion for Directed Verdict, Directed Verdict and failing to grant a

 J.N.O.V. and that the State had failed to prove a prima facia case of gratification of lust
 and/or that the verdict of the jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence
 and was evidenced by jury bias and prejudice.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

1. The Court has held that trial level right to counsel, created by the Sixth (6th) Amendment and applied to the State through the (14th) Amendment, see Gideon v.

Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344, 83 S. Ct. 792, 796. 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963), comprehends the right to effective assistance of counsel. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); U.S. v. Cronic, 466 648, 104 S.Ct. 2039, 80 L.Ed.2d 657 (1984). The Constitutional mandate is addressed to the action of the State in obtaining a criminal conviction through a procedure that fails to meet the standard of due process of law. "Unless a defendant charged with a serious offense has counsel able to invoke the procedural and substantive safeguards that distinguish our system of justice, a serious risk of injustice infects the trial itself. When the State obtains a criminal conviction through such a trial it is the State that unconstitutionally deprives the Defendant of his liberty." Cuyler v. Sullivan, 343, 100 S.Ct. 1715.

The Trial Judge's denial of the Defendant's Motion for Continuance violated the Defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial by failing to grant Defendant's Motion for Continuance allow the Defendant's attorney adequate time to review the file, including discovery, and prepare an adequate defense for the Defendant of the charges against him.

2. Further, when reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, the Court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the Appellee. The Appellee is to be given all favorable inferences arising from the evidence. The evidence is sufficient to support a

verdict of guilty if a reasonable hypothetical juror acting in good faith could have found the Defendant guilty of committing every element of the crime. Jerninghan v. State, No. 2003-KA-02652-COA, Mississippi Court of Appeals, Slip Opinion, March 22, 2005, WL646660.

The evidence, at best, was confusing and contradictory and in no way rose to the level of reasonable doubt and failed to make a prima facia case because of such contradictory and uncorroborated evidence.

3. When"... determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the Trial Court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial, and the Court finds the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence so that allowing the verdict to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Montana v. State, 822 So. 2d 954, 967-78 (1161) (Miss. 2002); Jerninghan v. State, No. 2003-KA-02652-COA, Mississippi Court of Appeal, Slip Opinion, March 22, 2005, WL646660 *2, 916.

The only evidence in this case was an identification of the Appellant by comparing his ears and the shape of his head. The Jury obviously had to fill in the blanks and overlook the gross contradiction and lack of corroboration and returned a verdict based solely on sympathy, bias and prejudice and this should have prompted the Trial Judge to grant Defendant's Motion J.N.O.V. or in the least, a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and circumstances this Court should reverse and render a "Not Guilty" verdict in favor the Appellant.