IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GREGORY BOONE

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-0081

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

FILED

JUN 1 1 2007

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMEN OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL **POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220** TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal against a judgment of the Circuit Court of Hinds County, First Judicial

District, in which the Appellant was convicted and sentenced for his felony of

GRATIFICATION OF LUST

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The victim, thirteen years of age at the time of trial, testified that she was living with her mother, sister and a "godsister" on the weekend of 13 - 14 March 2004. The victim had a brother as well, but he was away from the house that weekend. The victim and her sister used the brother's bedroom on that weekend since it was equipped with a television set.

The victim and her sister watched television that evening until their mother came home. She told them to go to sleep. They did so, though with the television set still playing.

During the night, the victim awoke to find that she was being touched. Her breast and buttocks were being rubbed. While this was being done, the man rubbed his member against her

legs. His legs were wrapped around hers. At that point the victim slipped out of bed and went to the livingroom, where her mother was sleeping. She told her mother what had just occurred; her mother turned on the lights and looked under the bed and around the bedroom. No one was found. The victim then went to the bedroom, woke her sister, and they stayed up the rest of the night with the lights on.

The next morning, a Sunday morning, the victim and her family went to church.

Afterwards, the victim told her mother that "Cameo" was the one who touched her during the night. This "Cameo" was apparently in the house. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 59 - 70).

The victim's sister, Jamilla Densella Norwood, corroborated the victim's account of what they had been doing before they were told to go to sleep. She said that she asked her mother to let the television continue playing because she was scared. The girls had been watching a horror picture.

In the course of the night, Jamilla awoke and she saw "Cameo" walk past the television set. She knew it was he because of his head shape and his unusually shaped ears. She had known him for some two years and knew that he was a friend of her mother's. He was spending the night with the family because his house had burnt down.

Jamilla apparently thought nothing of the fact that "Cameo" was in the room at the time. She went back to sleep. She was later awoken by the victim, and the victim told her what had happened. The victim was frightened and shaking. "Cameo" is the Appellant. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 70 - 80).

The victim's mother testified. She stated that she came home from work at about half past eleven on the evening of March 13th. The victim and her sister were in their brother's bedroom, watching television. She told the children to go to bed, but she let them keep the

television on.

The Appellant rang the mother to ask her if he could stay the night, his house having burnt down. She agreed to let him do so. When he arrived, he made overtures to the victim's mother. She was tired, though, and she refused him.

The victim's mother fell asleep on the couch in the living room. The next thing she knew, the victim wakened her, telling the mother that someone was in her room. She told her mother that she had been touched. The victim was upset, was shaking like a leaf. The victim's mother went into the bedroom but did not find anyone in it, other than the other child. The mother then returned to sleep, thinking that perhaps the other child had touched the victim in her sleep.

The Appellant was in another bedroom, wrapped in a comforter. He was wearing no clothes.

The next morning, the mother found that the children had remained awake the rest of the night. The victim insisted that she had been touched and she was still upset. The Appellant was still in the house. The mother accused the Appellant of having molested the victim. The Appellant denied it. She refused to let him leave, telling him that she was calling the police. The Appellant dressed, gathered his things, but could not find his driver's license. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 87 - 113).

The Appellant was twenty eight years of age at the time he committed this felony. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 111). The victim was thirteen years of age at the time of trial, and, of course, younger than that at the time of the commission of the felony. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 59).

The Appellant presented one witness in an attempt to establish an alibi. This witness testified that he was a "rap artist." He testified that the Appellant was in a recording studio with

him on the weekend of 13 - 14 March. The witness testified that the recording session ended about three or four on Sunday morning. According to the witness, the Appellant stayed with him the remainder of the night. They returned to the studio at about ten o'clock Sunday morning. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 115 - 126).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CONTINUANCE?
- 2. WAS THE VERDICT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE; WAS THE VERDICT OPPOSED BY THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

- 1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CONTINUANCE
- 2. THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND WAS NOT OPPOSED BY THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

1. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GRANT A CONTINUANCE

The Appellant tells this Court that he was originally represented by the Hinds County

Public Defender but that he later hired an attorney to represent him some two weeks prior to trial.

He tells this Court that the retained attorney sought a continuance but that the trial court denied relief. (Brief for the Appellant at 3).

The record does indicate that the Appellant changed attorneys. (R. Vol. 2, pg.5). However, there is nothing in the record to show that the Appellant's substituted attorney sought a continuance or that, if there was such a motion, that relief was denied on such a motion. We also

¹ We have combined the Appellant's Second, Third, Fourth and Fifth Assignments of Error under this issue.

note that the Appellant has failed to cite to the record where such a motion was filed or made, or where relief on it was denied. In addition to being in violation of Rule 28(e) MRAP, this failure is especially noteworthy in view of the Appellant's otherwise scrupulous efforts to cite to the record. We find nothing in the record excerpts to support the Appellant's claim. On the other hand, we do find that the Appellant's attorney announced that he was ready for trial. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 5).

This Court may not and will not consider facts not contained in the appellate record.

Mason v. State, 440 So.2d 318 (Miss. 1983). There is nothing in the record to show that a continuance was sought or that one was denied. This being so, the trial court simply cannot be put in error for having allegedly denied a continuance.

Since the record does not indicate that a continuance was sought or denied, there is nothing further we can say about the issue other than to note that the Appellant's argument in support of the First Assignment of Error is not supported by argument and citation of authority. (Brief for the Appellant at 10). While it may be that the Appellant has cited the Sixth Amendment, he in no way attempts to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the alleged motion for a continuance. The First Assignment of Error should be deemed abandoned for this reason. Wall v. State, 883 So.2d 617 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

2. THAT THE VERDICT WAS SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND WAS NOT OPPOSED BY THE GREAT WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

In considering the Appellant's Second Assignment of Error, we bear in mind the standards of review applicable to claims that the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict and that the verdict was opposed to the great weight of the evidence. May v. State, 460 So.2d

778 (Miss. 1984). Preliminarily, though, we note that the Appellant's motion for a directed verdict made at the conclusion of the State's case - in - chief was waived upon his presentation of a defense case - in - in chief. *Hubbard v. State*, 938 So.2d 287 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Since the Appellant did present a case - in - chief, his motion made at the conclusion of the State's case was waived, and it may not be considered here.

The evidence presented by the State, stated in summary form, was that the victim awoke to find a man in bed with her. This man was groping her breasts and buttocks, and his penis was touching her leg. While the victim could not identify this man, her sister, who was also in that bed, saw him by the light of the television. She knew it was the Appellant because the light from the television outlined his distinctive head and ears. The mother of the victim testified that the Appellant was the only man in the house that night. She further testified that the Appellant had previously pestered her for sexual favors on the night of the crime. The mother further testified that she found the Appellant in a bed but wearing no clothing. The Appellant was twenty - eight years of age at the time of the felony; the victim less than thirteen.

It is true that the Appellant presented an alibi defense, but for purposes of analyzing whether the evidence in support of the verdict was sufficient to permit the jury to find guilt, this evidence, as well as any other evidence opposed to the verdict of guilty, is to be ignored. The evidence in support of the verdict plainly would have allowed a reasonable juror to find that the Appellant touched the victim's breasts and buttocks for the purpose of gratifying his lust, in violation of Miss. Code Ann. Section 97-5-23.

We turn now to the claim that the trial court erred in denying relief on the Appellant's motion for a new trial.

It is true that the Appellant presented a case in alibi. The witness for the defense testified

that the Appellant was with him the entire night on the night that the crime occurred, as well as the day after. Whether this was to be believed was, of course, a matter for the jury to determine. That the jury rejected this testimony is no surprise.

There are several reasons this is so. First, the Appellant, in his desperate attempt to leave the victim's home, left his driver's license there. This fact surely shows his presence at the home, notwithstanding the alibi testimony. No attempt was made by the defense to explain away this fact. Secondly, the victim's mother and the children all testified that the Appellant was present at the home on the night of the crime, directly contradicting the alibi witness. No attempt was made by the defense to explain why the victim and her mother and sister would perjure themselves.

Given these considerations, it simply cannot be said that the verdict constitutes and unconscionable injustice. It was for the jury to determine whether to believe the improbable testimony for the defense. The State's evidence was not, as claimed here by the Appellant, full of contradictions and lack of corroboration. The trial court did not err in denying the Appellant's various motions for a directed verdict or for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and motion for a new trial. Weathersby v. State, 919 So.2d 1146 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The Second Assignment of Error is without merit.

CONCLUSION

The Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.